94439-3

No. 48187-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

 $V_{\cdot \cdot}$

ERIK PETTERSON

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas E Weaver WSBA #22488 Attorney for Appellant

The Law Office of Thomas E. Weaver
P.O. Box 1056
Bremerton, WA 98337
(360) 792-9345

C. Issues Presented for Review

- Whether the trial court has the authority to modify a SSOSA sentence after sentencing is an issue of substantial public interest, as recognized by the Court of Appeals, the Attorney General, and previously by this Court
- Whether the opinion of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decisions of this Court insofar as the SSOSA statute specifically and carefully delineates that the trial court may modify community custody conditions, an exception to the general rule set out in *State v Shove, infra*

D Statement of the Case

Erik Petterson, born October 15, 1968, was charged in Kitsap

County Superior Court on October 22, 2001 with one count of first degree child molestation for an incident that occurred on October 13, 2001 CP, 1.

The legislature had just amended the penalty statute for this offense, effective 43 days earlier on September 1, 2001, to require lifetime community custody for anyone convicted of this offense. See former RCW 9 94A 712 (recodified with minor changes as RCW 9 94A 507)¹

Therefore, Mr. Petterson represents one of the first individuals charged under the terms of this statute

On February 11, 2002, Mr. Petterson petitioned for and was granted a SSOSA sentence pursuant to RCW 9.94A.670 CP, 6. At the time of sentencing, the Court entered a Judgment and Sentence with all the mandatory and discretionary conditions set out in RCW 9.94A.670. The Court ordered a minimum sentence of 68 months, with 62 months suspended, and a maximum sentence of life CP, 7. Importantly, the Court ordered that the "Defendant shall report to DOC no later than 72 hours after release from custody and shall comply with all conditions stated in this Judgment and Sentence, including those checked in the Supervision

Although the statutes have been renumbered and experienced minor changes, none of the changes impact this appeal. Mr. Petterson will forthwith refer to the current versions of the statutes, including currently numbering.

Schedule, and other conditions imposed by the court or DOC during community custody." CP, 8

On October 4, 2005, Mr. Petterson appeared for his treatment termination hearing as contemplated by RCW 9 94A 670(9). CP, 14. At that time, he had completed his three years of treatment and there was a joint request to terminate him from treatment. The Court granted the motion and signed an order. CP, 15. Inexplicably, the Order terminated him from both treatment and community custody. The mistake was discovered in late 2006 and on December 5, 2006, the State filed a motion to amend the Order. CP, 17. The motion was eventually granted on March 9, 2007. Mr. Petterson appealed that order. CP, 24. The Court of Appeals affirmed on March 11, 2008, holding that the October 4, 2005. Order was a scrivener's error correctable pursuant to CrR. 7.8(a). See 36048-9-II. See, generally, RP, 1-4 (April 18, 2008). No petition for review was filed and the mandate issued on April 21, 2008.

On April 28, 2008, the parties held a hearing to discuss what should happen next in light of the Court of Appeals decision Mr.

Petterson moved to be terminated entirely from community custody RP, 4 (April 18, 2008). The motion was supported by his then Community Corrections Officer (CCO) David Payne RP, 4 (April 18, 2008). Mr.

Petterson argued that because the SSOSA statute gives judges the

authority to "modify" community custody conditions, it may terminate the conditions entirely or, in the alternative, modify them RP, 6 (April 18, 2008). The prosecutor objected to the motion RP, 6 (April 18, 2008). The Court held it lacked the authority to terminate community custody, noting that the statute says "modify, not "terminate" RP, 9 (April 18, 2008). Mr. Petterson then argued that the Court should modify the community custody conditions to delete many of the provisions, including polygraphs, urinalysis, and regular reporting RP, 10 (April 18, 2008). The Court decided to defer a decision to allow CCO Payne to be present RP, 11-12 (April 18, 2008).

The Court reconvened on May 5, 2008 with DPA Hull and CCO Payne both present. CCO Payne opined that, regardless of what the Court decided to do, short of terminating Mr. Petterson entirely, the Department would continue to actively supervise him, including polygraphs and regular reporting. RP, 4-5 (May 5, 2008). The reason was the Department may be exposed to civil liability if it did not continue to supervise. RP, 4 (May 5, 2008). The parties took note of RCW 9 94A 715(2)(c), which states the Department may not impose conditions which contravene the Court's order. RP, 6 (May 5, 2008). DPA Hull expressly told the Court that the statute gives the court authority to modify the community custody conditions. RP, 8 (May 5, 2008). DPA Hull also expressed a concern that

he does not represent the Department of Corrections and it may be appropriate to have an attorney from the Attorney General's office present. RP, 8-9 (May 5, 2008). CCO Payne agreed that legal representation from the Attorney General's office was appropriate RP, 10 (May 5, 2008). The Court expressed a concern that the department was essentially saying it would ignore a court order and set another hearing to allow the Attorney General's office to be present. RP, 11-12 (May 5, 2008).

The next hearing occurred on May 30, 2008. At that hearing, although CCO Payne was again present, no one from the Attorney General's office appeared RP, 1 (May 30, 2008). Mr. Petterson's counsel represented without contradiction by the State that the Attorney General's office had "no position one way or another how the court rules" RP, 3 (May 30, 2008). The prosecutor told the Court that his office had been in contact with both the Department of Corrections and the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board (ISRB) and neither body was taking a position. RP, 4 (May 30, 2008). The State was opposing the motion, however RP, 4 (May 30, 2008). The Court ruled, after reviewing the statute, it had the authority to modify the community custody conditions RP, 5 (May 30, 2008). The Court signed an order modifying the community custody conditions to require that Mr. Petterson: (1) obey all laws; and (2) update

the Department of any change in address or phone number CP, 40 All other community custody conditions were suspended CP, 40. The Court orally admonished Mr Petterson that if he were to violate the law, he would be back before the Court and "all the conditions could be put back on you" RP, 5 (May 30, 2008) This Order was not appealed by any party or the Department

A DOC staff meeting was held on February 13, 2009. CP, 117. At that meeting. Mr. Petterson's situation was discussed. The Department decided to comply with the Court order, but "if at any time, the offender fails to obey all laws (however minor) or information is received the offender is participating in illegal or risk-related behavior that the court be informed immediately and request a hearing for sentence modification."

CP, 117

Since January 1, 2009, Mr. Petterson has maintained strict compliance with his conditions. CP, 98. The Department regularly conducts criminal history checks to ensure compliance. CP, 98.

Additionally, although Mr. Petterson has no requirement to report to DOC, he has continued to report when requested by his CCO. CP, 98. The record shows he has reported thirteen times since January 1, 2009, including on January 9, 2009, February 6, 2009, February 13, 2009 (field call), October 12, 2011, June 20, 2012, July 29, 2013, August 6, 2013

(field visit), August 14, 2013, September 4, 2013, September 12, 2013 (field visit), October 1, 2013, May 21, 2014, and July 14, 2015. CP, 104 et seq. Mr. Petterson also requested and was granted permission to travel out of state for routine vacations on August 19, 2014 (Oregon), December 29, 2914 (Hawaii), and June 15, 2015 (Oregon). CP, 104 et seq. In each instance, Mr. Petterson promptly contacted DOC to advise them of his return to the state of Washington.

On May 29, 2013, the Department filed a report indicating Mr
Petterson was in full compliance with his community custody. CP, 41
The next day, the Kitsap County Superior Court signed an Order removing him from the sex offender registry. CP, 41. This Order was not appealed by any party or the Department.

In July of 2013, an issue arose where Mr. Petterson indicated a desire to move to Minnesota. RP, 6 (August 9, 2013). This caused the Department to become concerned because Mr. Petterson was living in another state without notifying the state as required by the Interstate Compact. RP, 6 (August 9, 2013). The possibility that Mr. Petterson would want to move from the State of Washington was not one that was contemplated by the parties at the May 30, 2008 hearing. RP, 7 (August 9, 2013). The Department filed a document titled "Notice of Violation," although Mr. Petterson was not actually out of compliance. In response,

Mr Petterson filed a Motion to Clarify Conditions. CP, 47. A hearing was held and the parties entered a stipulation that Mr. Petterson would not leave the State of Washington without permission and would not move from the State of Washington without complying with the Interstate Compact. CP, 52; RP, 7 (August 9, 2013). This Order was not appealed by any party or the Department.

Mr Petterson decided not to petition under the Interstate Compact and move to Minnesota. He continued to remain in compliance with his community custody. On April 29, 2014, Mr. Petterson notified the Department he intended to move to Redmond, Washington in King. County on May 1, 2014. CP, 108. Over a year later, his case was transferred to a new CCO in King County. CP, 106. This CCO decided to reinstate all community custody conditions as if Mr. Petterson were just starting his SSOSA. CP, 105. A copy of the proposed conditions is in the record. CP, 120. Included among the reimposed conditions are: register with shetiff's officer in the county of residence as required (CP, 124), not possess or peruse pornographic materials unless authorized (CP, 125), enter and successfully participate in a sex offender treatment program (CP, 129), not use computer chat rooms (CP, 133), not possess or control sexual stimulus material for your particular deviancy as defined by your supervisory CCO and therapist except as provided for therapeutic

purposes (CP, 133) Mr. Petterson declined to sign the new conditions citing his earlier court orders. The Department decided to enlist the aid of the AG, who filed the Motion of DOC to Modify Conditions Mr. Petterson responded in writing CP, 95.

The trial court granted the Department's motion in a written memorandum on September 16, 2015 CP, 142. In the Order, the trial court ruled that the Department is free to impose community custody conditions pursuant to RCW 9 94A 715 CP, 145 Mr Petterson appealed from this Order CP, 148 The Court of Appeals affirmed in a published decision. Mr Petterson petitions for review.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted

3 The trial court's authority to modify a SSOSA sentence after sentencing is an issue of substantial public interest, as recognized by the Court of Appeals, the Attorney General, and previously by this Court.

The issues presented by Petterson's petition are significant issues of public interest and should be reviewed by this Court RAP, 13 4(b)

The State, represented by the Attorney General's Office, agrees that the issues are significant and recurring. In its motion to publish the Court of Appeals decision, the Attorney General wrote, "Petterson's arguments

regarding the Superior Court's authority to modify conditions are the same arguments frequently raised in superior courts by other SSOSA offenders. No published case law currently exists interpreting the specific section of the SSOSA statute regarding the superior court's authority following the treatment termination hearing and community custody conditions.

Therefore, unless publication is granted, these are expected to be frequent issues litigated before superior courts "Respondent's Motion to Modify, 2.

The importance of providing for judicial review of Department imposed conditions is amply demonstrated by the colloquy at Oral Argument in the Court of Appeals. Mr. Petterson pointed out that some of the department imposed conditions were potentially unconstitutional, such as the prohibitions on pornography. See *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn 2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). In response to a question from the Court, the Attorney General suggested that there is a difference between court-imposed conditions and Department-imposed conditions, suggesting that *State v. Bahl* is inapplicable to the latter situation. See Oral Argument, 48187-1-II, starting at approximately 28:00

This Court in 2015 granted review in a case involving an issue substantially similar to Mr. Petterson's issues. See *In re the PRP of Steven Montgomery*, cause no. 89730-1. In *Montgomery*, the Department imposed a prohibition on the petitioner's right to contact his biological

children, arguably in violation of his rights under *State v LeToureau*, 100 Wn App 424, 997 P 2d 436 (2000), and contravening the order of the trial court. This Court granted review and held oral argument. But prior to issuing its decision, Mr. Montgomery completed his community custody and this Court dismissed Mr. Montgomery' petition as moot. In contrast, Petterson's community custody will never expire. Undoubtedly, the need for judicial review of Department-imposed community custody conditions contributed to this Court's decision to grant review in *Montgomery*. The issues deemed important enough by this Court to grant review in 2015 continue to plague Mr. Petterson and other similarly situated probationers and should be reviewed by this Court

It is nearly impossible to overstate the importance of the issues presented by this petition. For offenders such as Mr. Petterson who are on lifetime community custody, it is imperative that the court retain jurisdiction to modify community custody conditions as necessary. Mr. Petterson was 33 years old at the time of his initial sentencing hearing. Assuming a normal lifespan, he will spend approximately 50 years on community custody over the course of his lifetime. Many offenders subject to lifetime community custody committed their offenses when in their late teens or twenties. It is not unforeseeable that early in the twenty-second century we will read about someone who has spent a century on

During that time, it is inevitable that important life changes will occur

Children and grandchildren will be born Parents and grandparents will

die Graduations and marriages will occur. Victims will want to reconcile

with their perpetrators. It is important that the sentencing court retain

jurisdiction to address these life changes as they occur. The Department,

whose primary mission is community safety, is not always the best entity

to address these issues. For instance, many Community Corrections

Officers (CCO) have blanket policies of prohibiting all contact with

minors or always denying victim requests for family reconciliation. See

State v LeToureau, 100 Wn App. 424, 997 P 2d 436 (2000) (authorizing

post-sentencing judicial oversight of community custody conditions

involving contact with biological children). In those situations, it is

important to have access to a neutral magistrate to determine whether, and

under what conditions, contact should occur.

It should be noted that Mr. Petterson is not requesting any specific community custody conditions be modified at this time. The 2008 Order was working well until 2013, when a change in circumstances caused the parties to jointly request an amendment to the Order. In turn, the 2013 Order was working well until 2014, when he moved from Kitsap County to King County. This move, along with the resultant change of

community custody officer, resulted in his being put back to square one on his SSOSA. His current Department-imposed conditions require he undergo treatment (even though he has completed treatment), not possess pornography or sexually stimulating material (arguably in violation of *State v Bahl*), not use computer chat rooms (arguably in violation of *State v O'Cain*, 144 Wn App. 772, 184 P 3d 1262 (2008)²), and register as a sex offender (even though he has a court order relieving him of sex offender registration). These conditions were reimposed on him seven years after they were removed by the court even though he had no intervening violations and had completed treatment. It may be that some of the conditions desired by the Department should be reimposed, but the Department should not be able to impose them unilaterally in contravention of the court order.

2. The opinion of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decisions of this Court insofar as the SSOSA statute specifically and carefully delineates that the trial court may modify community custody conditions, an exception to the general rule set out in State v. Shove.

² There is no allegation the internet was used during the commission of his offense

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not have the authority to modify the community custody conditions because Mr

Petterson had his termination hearing in 2005 and the Court modified the conditions in 2008. It reached this conclusion despite the fact that the statute twice states trial courts are required to hold hearings and "modify conditions of community custody" See RCW 9.94A 670(8)(b) and (9). The statute also states that "the Department may not impose conditions that are contrary to those ordered by the court and may not contravene or decrease court-ordered conditions" RCW 9.94A 704(6). When imposing community custody conditions, the department is deemed to be performing a "quasi-judicial function." RCW 9.94A 704(11).

The conclusion reached by the Court of Appeals is erroneous both factually and legally. It is factually erroneous because of Mr. Petterson's unique procedural history between 2005 and 2008. The termination hearing began on October 4, 2005 where, due to a scrivener's error, the Court erroneously removed Mr. Petterson from community custody entirely. The error was only discovered a year later, at which time the Court reimposed community custody and Mr. Petterson appealed. The Order was affirmed by the Court of Appeals and remanded back to the trial court. Having erroneously eliminated all of the community custody conditions, the trial court reconvened to determine what community

custody conditions should be imposed going forward. Because the trial court wanted to get input from the Department of Corrections before making this decision, the hearing was rescheduled twice. Therefore, the termination "hearing" was in fact six hearings over three years on October 4, 2005, December 5, 2006, March 9, 2006, April 28, 2008, May 5, 2008, and May 30, 2008

More importantly, the Court of Appeals is wrong legally. SSOSA sentences are unique under the SRA because they are the only felony suspended sentences and the trial court retains jurisdiction for as long as the SSOSA candidate remains on community custody. Only the trial court has the discretion to revoke a SSOSA sentence. RCW 9.94A.670(11). The trial court may revoke the sentence at any time prior to the completion of community custody. *State v. Miller*, 159 Wn App. 911, 247 P.3d.457 (2011) (trial court properly held hearing nine years into ten year suspended sentence and revoked SSOSA). When a SSOSA candidate violates community custody, the trial court has the authority either to impose a local sanction of up to 60 days or to revoke the SSOSA. *State v. Partee*, 141 Wn App. 355, 170 P.3d 60 (2007)

Mr. Petterson, who is on lifetime community custody, is subject to revocation at any time for the rest of his life should he violate his SSOSA.

But such action may only be done by the trial court, not by the

Department. Under the analysis of the Court of Appeals, were Mr.

Petterson to violate his community custody conditions, the trial court could convene a hearing and either sanction him to local jail or revoke his SSOSA, but could not modify his conditions. For instance, were Mr.

Petterson to get arrested for DUI, the court could send him to jail or prison, but not alcohol treatment. This is clearly not the intent of the statute. The statute does not allow a "quasi-judicial" officer to be able to impose community custody conditions that contravene, replace, or ignore conditions imposed by a full judicial officer

Shove, 113 Wn 2d 83, 776 P 2d 132 (1989) and State v Harkness, 145 Wn App 678, 186 P 3d 1182 (2008). But Shove and Harkness are easily distinguishable. In Shove, this Court reversed an early SRA sentence for two reasons. First, the Court held that a jail sentence, once imposed, may not be modified at a later date by the trial court except in "specific, carefully delineated circumstances." Shove at 86. Second, this Court held the trial court erred by imposing a suspended sentence, saying that suspended sentences are not authorized by the SRA except for "one exception not applicable here," i.e. the SSOSA statute Shove at 90. The Shove case is, therefore, inapplicable to Mr. Petterson's case because the

SSOSA statute specifically and carefully authorizes sentence modifications and suspended sentences

Similarly, in *Harkness*, the trial court granted a DOSA sentence two years after sentencing without "specific and carefully delineated" statutory authority to modify the original sentence *Harkness* at 685

Because Mr Petterson relies on RCW 9.94A 670(8)(b), (9) and (11) as his specific and carefully delineated statutory authority. *Harkness* is also inapplicable

F Conclusion

This Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and remand for the trial court to review and modify as necessary Mr

Petterson's community custody conditions

DATED this 28th day of April, 2017.

Thomas E Weaver, WSBA #22488

Attorney for Defendant

WEAVER LAW FIRM April 28, 2017 - 3:01 PM Transmittal Letter

Document Uploaded:	6-481871-Petition for Review.pdf		
Case Name:	State of Washington v. Erik Petterson		
Court of Appeals Case Number:	48187-1		
Is this a Personal Restraint Pet	ition? Yes • No		
The document being Filed is:			
Designation of Clerk's	Papers Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers		
Statement of Arrangements			
Motion:			
	Answer/Reply to Motion:		
Brief:			
Statement of Additional Authorities Cost Bill			
Affidavit			
Letter			
Copy of Verbatim Report Hearing Date(s):	ort of Proceedings - No. of Volumes:		
Personal Restraint Petit	Personal Restraint Petition (PRP)		
Response to Personal R	estraint Petition		
Reply to Response to P	Reply to Response to Personal Restraint Petition		
Petition for Review (PF	ev)		
Other:			
Comments:			
No Comments were entered	•		
Sender Name: Thomas E W	eaver - Email: admin@tomweaverlaw.com		
A copy of this document has	been emailed to the following addresses:		

kcpa@co.kitsap.wa.us

March 21, 2017

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

No. 48187-1-II

Respondent,

v.

ERIK G. PETTERSON

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

SUTTON, J. — Erik Petterson appeals the superior court's order granting the Department of Corrections's (Department) motion to modify the conditions of Petterson's sentence under the Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA) and reinstating the condition that Petterson comply with conditions imposed by the Department. Here, Petterson's community custody conditions were erroneously modified in 2008 because the superior court did not have the authority to modify Petterson's community custody conditions; therefore, the superior court properly remedied the error by reinstating the condition at issue in 2015. The condition at issue is a mandatory condition of all community custody; therefore, it was appropriate for the superior court to reinstate it. Accordingly, we affirm.

¹ Former RCW 9.94A.670 (2001). Petterson committed his crime in 2001 and was sentenced under the SSOSA sentencing scheme codified in former RCW 9.94A.670. Accordingly, former RCW 9.94A.670 is the applicable law in this case. Since 2001, there have not been substantive changes to the provisions at issue here, although other changes to SSOSA have resulted in changes to the sections and sub-sections. Here, we cite to the applicable law from 2001 but include citations to the corresponding sections and subsections under the current law.

FACTS

In 2002, Petterson pleaded guilty to child molestation in the first degree and was sentenced under SSOSA. Petterson was sentenced to 68 months confinement with 62 months suspended for the maximum term of life. As a condition of his suspended sentence, Petterson was placed on community custody and, among other conditions, required to comply with all conditions imposed by the Department. Petterson's treatment termination hearing was set for February 7, 2005.

On October 4, 2005, the superior court entered an order at the treatment termination hearing. The order terminated Petterson's SSOSA sentence and community custody. On December 5, 2006, the State filed a motion to amend the order to reinstate community custody and the Department's supervision in accordance with the requirements of SSOSA. The superior court granted the State's motion and entered an amended order reinstating lifetime community custody.

Petterson appealed the superior court's amended order. In 2008, in an unpublished opinion, we determined that the order terminating community custody was a scrivener's error and affirmed the superior court's order correcting the error and reinstating lifetime community custody.

Petterson then filed a motion to terminate community custody. The superior court did not terminate community custody, but entered an order (2008 order)² modifying Petterson's community custody conditions to only impose two conditions: (1) the defendant shall obey all laws and (2) the defendant shall update the Department of any change in address or phone number.

In August 2015, the Department filed a motion to reinstate the SSOSA condition requiring an offender to comply with any conditions imposed by the Department. Prior to the 2015 motion, the Department had declined to take any position on the superior court's authority to modify

² Order Modifying Community Custody Conditions, filed May 30, 2008. Clerk's Papers at 40.

community custody provisions; however, Petterson's community custody officer supported Petterson's motion to terminate community custody.

On September 16, 2015, the superior court entered its order (2015 order)³ granting the Department's motion. The superior court concluded that the court did not have the authority to modify the community custody conditions in the 2008 order. The superior court also concluded that compliance with conditions imposed by the Department was a mandatory condition and the superior court did not have the authority to remove that specific condition. Therefore, the superior court granted the Department's motion and reinstated the requirement that Petterson comply with additional community custody conditions imposed by the Department. Petterson appeals the superior court's 2015 order.

ANALYSIS

The issue before this court is whether the superior court erred by granting the Department's motion to modify Petterson's community custody provisions.⁴ Here, the superior court properly remedied the 2008 order in which the superior court modified the conditions of community custody

³ Order on Motion to Modify Conditions of Community Custody, filed Sept. 16, 2015. CP at 142.

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