FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2017
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94439-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

V.

ERIK PETTERSON

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Mandy L. Rose, WSBA #38506 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division OID #91025 PO Box 40116 Olympia WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445 MandyR@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth four limited circumstances where this Court may choose to accept review of a decision by the Court of Appeals. Mr. Petterson argues he meets the requirements for discretionary review under

two prongs, claiming that the decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. *See* Petition, at 9-10; 13-14. Mr. Petterson is mistaken on both points. The Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with this Court's previous case law and correctly resolved the issues in Mr. Petterson's appeal.

Further, while the decision of the Court of Appeals is of general interest and provides guidance to trial courts where a sex offender attempts to effectively eliminate community custody and remove required conditions from his or her SSOSA sentence, this does not equate with an issue of substantial public importance requiring review by the Supreme Court. Mr. Petterson's argument supporting substantial public importance is that review of Department imposed conditions is necessary to ensure conditions imposed are constitutional. *See* Petition at 10. This argument attempts to insert an issue that was not actually before the Court of Appeals. The issue was whether the trial court could eliminate the requirement that Mr. Petterson comply with the Department's conditions, not whether any particular condition was constitutional. Mr. Petterson has never filed a personal restraint petition or appeal specific to any particular condition imposed by the Department.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with Previous Decisions by This Court

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if the decision conflicts with this Court's prior decisions or a Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Contrary to Mr. Petterson's arguments, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with previous case law. Mr. Petterson's interpretation of statute and case law is not.

1. The Court of Appeals Properly Decided the Only Issue Before It: Whether the Superior Court Can Eliminate A Mandatory Condition of Community Custody

Mr. Petterson argues the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with this Court's decisions because the SSOSA statute "specifically and carefully delineates that the trial court may modify conditions." *See* Petition at 13. Thus Mr. Petterson argues, the Court of Appeals wrongly relied on this Court's decisions in *State v. Shove*, 113 Wn.2d 83, 776 P.2d 132 (1989) and *State v. Harkness*, 145 Wn. App. 678, 186 P.3d 1182 (2008). In making this argument Mr. Petterson mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals decision, the Department's arguments, and prior case law.

The crux of the Court of Appeals decision was this Court's prior holdings that *absent explicit authorization*, the superior court lacks jurisdiction to modify an offender's sentence. *See* Slip Op. at 6. Mr. Petterson acknowledges that the superior court is limited to that which is

"specific and carefully delineated" but then proceeds to ignore the explicit limitations in the SSOSA statute regarding modification of conditions. *See* Petition at 16-17.

As discussed by the Court of Appeals, at the time Mr. Petterson committed his offense, the SSOSA statute specifically delineated one instance in which the superior court could modify conditions of community custody: at the treatment termination hearing. See Slip Op. at 5, (citing RCW 9.94A.670(8)(2001)). The statute has since been amended but even now the court's authority to modify conditions is limited to the treatment termination hearing and annual reviews "on the offender's progress in treatment." RCW 9.94A.670(8)(9). Mr. Petterson attempts to persuade this Court, as he did with the Court of Appeals, that the treatment termination hearing lasted three years across six hearings to justify the trial court's modifications. See Petition at 15. The treatment termination hearing did not last for three years. Treatment was terminated on October 4, 2005. CP 20-21. On March 9, 2007, the Court corrected the previous error where it terminated community custody and reinstated community custody. CP 22-23. Treatment was never reinstated. As Mr. Petterson acknowledged in his motion to terminate custody following this order, Mr. Petterson did well in treatment and graduated in the fall of 2005. CP. 28. On May 30, 2008, the trial court entered an order modifying conditions of community custody to just two conditions: obey all laws and update the Department of Corrections with any change of address. CP 40. Mr. Petterson was no longer required to follow Department imposed conditions. Treatment was never reinstated. Finally, on August 9, 2013, the trial court entered an order denying community custody violations and again modified conditions. CP 52-53. Mr. Petterson was still not required to comply with any Department imposed conditions nor was treatment reinstated. Thus, while several hearings occurred in which Mr. Petterson's legal requirement to remain on community custody was discussed, treatment was never at issue following the treatment termination hearing.

Mr. Petterson's example supporting his arguments that the superior court can modify conditions at any time is irrelevant to the issue presented to the Court of Appeals. Whether a particular condition contravenes a court imposed condition is irrelevant to whether the superior court has authority to modify or eliminate the Department's authority to impose conditions.

Moreover, Mr. Petterson's example of a DUI during his community custody and his suggestion that the trial court could impose alcohol related conditions is simply wrong. It is well understood that the trial court is limited to *crime related* conditions. Crime related conditions are defined as an order of the court prohibiting conduct that "directly

relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted, and shall not be construed to mean orders directing an offender affirmatively to participate in rehabilitative programs or to otherwise perform affirmative conduct. However, affirmative acts necessary to monitor compliance with the order of a court *may be required by the department*." See RCW 9.94A.030(10)(2001) (emphasis added). The definition of crime related conditions has remained virtually unchanged [for how long, or since when?]. See RCW 9.94A.030(10)(2016).

It is undisputed that alcohol did not play a role in Mr. Petterson's molestation of his daughter. Mr. Petterson argues it was not the intent of the legislature that the court would be unable to impose alcohol conditions. In actuality that is exactly what the Legislature intended. At the time Mr. Petterson committed his offense, the definition of community custody stated that this is the portion of the offender's sentence subject to the controls of the Department and requires the Department to "assess the offender's risk of re-offense and may establish and modify additional conditions of community custody . . . based upon the risk to community safety." RCW 9.94A.030(5)(2001). The current definition states that the offender is subject to the controls placed on the offender's movement and activities by the Department. RCW 9.94A.030(5). Thus, if Mr. Petterson

receives a DUI during his community custody, it would be the Department and not the Court which would impose conditions related to alcohol.

Mr. Petterson's argument that the Court must be able to modify conditions at any time because it has the authority to revoke a SSOSA at any time is likewise unavailing. The SSOSA statute specifically authorizes the trial court to revoke a SSOSA at any time. It does not authorize modification of conditions at any time. *See State v. Ibanez*, 62 Wn. App. 628, 632, 815 P.2d 788 (1991) (citing *State v. Shove*, 113 Wn.2d 83, 89, 776 P.2d 132 (1989)) (while the trial court retains jurisdiction to take action, the actions permitted are limited).

Mr. Petterson's suggested statutory interpretation runs counter to this Court's prior holdings that a sentencing court has discretion "only where the SRA so authorizes." *State v. Shove*, 113 Wn.2d at 89. The Court of Appeals ruling is entirely consistent with existing law.

B. Mr. Petterson's Disagreement with the Court of Appeals' Analysis Does Not Create an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Mr. Petterson argues the importance of providing judicial review of Department imposed conditions is what supports the prong of substantial public interest justifying review. Again, the specific conditions imposed by the Department were not before the Court of Appeals and were not an issue decided by the Court of Appeals. More importantly,

RCW 9.94A.704(7)(b) allows Mr. Petterson to request administrative review of any condition imposed by the Department, and RAP 16.4 allows him to file a personal restraint petition. Mr. Petterson has never sought administrative review of his conditions or filed a personal restraint petition.

Finally, RAP 12.3(3)(d), pertaining to motions to publish lists as one criteria that the matter is of *general* public interest. This is different criteria than RAP 13.4(b)(4), which allows review for matters of *substantial* public interest necessitating review by the Supreme Court. Certainly the Court of Appeals decision is of general public interest in that it provides general guidance to trial courts when faced with motions by SSOSA offenders seeking to escape their community custody sentences. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals decision is ultimately consistent with this Court's prior holdings and it does not conflict with any published Court of Appeals decision. Thus, while the decision is helpful to providing guidance regarding various motions at the trial court level, it is not of substantial public important necessitating this Court's review.

V. CONCLUSION

Petterson's Petition for Discretionary Review does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny Petterson's Petition.